### S266003

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

### MIKAYLA HOFFMANN, a Minor, etc.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

### CHRISTINA M. YOUNG et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX CASE NO. B292539

### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

### HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

\*CHRISTOPHER D. HU (BAR NO. 293052)

SAN FRANCISCO OFFICE

DEAN A. BOCHNER (BAR NO. 172133)

JOSHUA C. McDANIEL (BAR NO. 286348)

BURBANK OFFICE

3601 WEST OLIVE AVENUE, 8TH FLOOR BURBANK, CALIFORNIA 91505-4681 (818) 995-0800 • FAX: (844) 497-6592 chu@horvitzlevy.com dbochner@horvitzlevy.com jmcdaniel@horvitzlevy.com

### **HENDERSON & BORGESON**

#### INTRODUCTION

California's recreational use immunity statute shields landowners from liability arising from the recreational use of their land, subject to only a few narrow exceptions. (Civ. Code, § 846 (§ 846).) This case concerns the statute's express invitation exception, which abrogates the landowner's immunity when the plaintiff was "expressly invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner." (*Id.*, subd. (d)(3).) The issue presented is whether the phrase "expressly invited . . . by the landowner" includes invitations made by non-landowners without the landowner's knowledge or express approval.

The key facts are not in dispute. Plaintiff was injured while riding a motorcycle on property owned by Donald and Christina Young. She was invited to the property by the Youngs' 18-year-old son without his parents' knowledge. The parents did not authorize their son to invite plaintiff to their property. In

fact, the parents had never met or seen plaintiff before and had no idea their son had invited her over.

Under the statute's plain language, this is a simple case. Plaintiff was not "expressly invited . . . to come upon the premises by the landowner." (§ 846, subd. (d)(3).) The landowner parents had nothing to do with their son's invitation. At most, they "merely permitted" plaintiff "to come upon the premises." (*Ibid.*) On its face, the express invitation exception does not apply.

In holding to the contrary, the Court of Appeal majority did not dispute that the statute's text compels only one outcome here. Despite agreeing that the statute "only uses the word, 'landowner,' "the majority declined to apply the statute's literal meaning. (Hoffmann v. Young (2020) 56 Cal.App.5th 1021, 1029 (Hoffmann).) To sidestep the text of the statute, the majority theorized that the son was acting as his parents' "implied agent" when he invited plaintiff to their property. This implied agency theory not only conflicts with section 846's plain language but also finds no support in California agency law or the statutory purpose underlying recreational use immunity.

This is not to say a landowner must *personally deliver* the invitation to trigger the exception. If the landowner chooses to invite a guest but instructs someone else to convey the invitation, that is still an express invitation "by the landowner." (§ 846, subd. (d)(3).) But that is as far as the statute's text goes. The statute cannot be construed to eliminate a landowner's immunity based on an invitation he had no role in extending.

This case is best resolved as a straightforward exercise in applying statutory text. Applying the recreational use immunity statute as written realigns California agency law with prior precedents and produces a sensible outcome consistent with the statute's policy goals. The Court of Appeal's contrary decision should be reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Gunner Young invites Mikayla Hoffmann to his parents' property without their knowledge or approval.

In late August 2014, 18-year-old Gunner Young visited a high school friend, 15-year-old Mikayla Hoffmann, at her mother's house. (4 RT 942–943, 949; 7 RT 1876.) Gunner and Mikayla both enjoyed riding motorcycles, and they discussed riding together the next day. (See 4 RT 942–946.) Gunner invited Mikayla to his parents' house the following day. (4 RT 944, 948.)<sup>1</sup>

At that time, Gunner lived with his parents, Donald and Christina Young, at their home in Paso Robles. (8 RT 2169, 2171.) Donald and Christina own the home and the surrounding

10

Gunner and Mikayla disagreed about whether Gunner invited her to his parents' house for the specific purpose of riding motorcycles on the property. (Compare 4 RT 948–949, 1020 with 8 RT 2179–2180.) Mikayla claimed that Gunner invited her to ride motorcycles on his parents' property, while Gunner claimed that they had only planned to stop briefly at the property to retrieve Gunner's motorcycle and then ride together to a local riverbed. (*Ibid.*) This appeal does not turn on the resolution of this factual dispute.

property. (6 RT 1604; 7 RT 1895–1896; 11 RT 3008.) The property has a motocross track, which Donald built when Gunner was about 10 years old. (7 RT 1896–1897; 8 RT 2172, 2218.) The track saw frequent use in the year or two after it was built. (7 RT 1902; 8 RT 2137–2138, 2172, 2219.) But by 2014, the family had largely stopped using the track, as Gunner and his brother Dillon had progressed to riding on more advanced tracks. (7 RT 1902–1903; 8 RT 2137–2138, 2172, 2219.) Neither of Gunner's parents remembered anyone using the track in the year before August 2014. (7 RT 1903; 8 RT 2138.) Gunner sometimes did test laps around the track, but even that "was a super rare occasion." (8 RT 2173–2174.)

Before the accident that prompted this lawsuit, Gunner's parents had never invited Mikayla to their property or authorized Gunner to do so on their behalf. (6 RT 1604–1605; 7 RT 1944; 8 RT 2139.) Indeed, before the accident, Gunner's parents had never even met or seen Mikayla (4 RT 956; 6 RT 1605; 7 RT 1903–1904; 8 RT 2138), and Mikayla had never been to the property (4 RT 956; see 5 RT 1362). Gunner did not ask his parents for permission to invite Mikayla to the property, and Gunner did not tell his parents he had invited Mikayla over that day. (8 RT 2182; see 7 RT 1905, 1926.) In short, Gunner's parents were unaware that Mikayla would be coming to their property on the day of the accident. (6 RT 1605; 7 RT 1903–1904; 8 RT 2138–2139.)

### B. Mikayla is injured in a motorcycle accident.

The day after Gunner visited Mikayla at her mother's house, Gunner picked up Mikayla, loaded her motorcycle onto his pickup truck, and drove to his parents' house. (4 RT 952, 954; 8 RT 2180.) Once there, Gunner unloaded Mikayla's motorcycle and outfitted Mikayla with protective gear. (See 7 RT 1882–1883; 8 RT 2182.)

After taking Mikayla's motorcycle for a warm-up lap around the track, Gunner told Mikayla to drive up and down the driveway while he drove his own bike for a warm-up lap on the track. (4 RT 956–958; 8 RT 2182–2188.) Gunner never told Mikayla to enter the track. (4 RT 1024–1026; 8 RT 2187.) Mikayla nonetheless drove onto the track and started riding in the opposite direction as Gunner. (4 RT 962–963, 1026–1027, 1033.) Their bikes collided, and both Gunner and Mikayla were injured. (4 RT 963; 7 RT 1879; 8 RT 2191.)

Gunner's parents met Mikayla for the first time in the accident's immediate aftermath. (8 RT 2138; see 4 RT 956; 6 RT 1605; 7 RT 1903–1904.) While Gunner laid hurt on the ground, Mikayla ran inside the house to get help from Christina. (4 RT 965, 1039; 8 RT 2138–2139.) Meanwhile, Donald ran outside, where he found Gunner and escorted him toward the house. (7 RT 1905–1912.) Donald was upset and surprised because he expected no one to be on the track or even at the house at that time. (7 RT 1910–1911.)

Both Mikayla and Gunner were injured in the accident. Mikayla lost tissue from the tip of her pinky finger. (4 RT 963, 984–985.) Gunner broke his pelvic bone in two places and injured his knee. (7 RT 1879.) Gunner and Christina helped Mikayla get medical attention, and a doctor performed surgery on her finger later that day. (4 RT 967–968, 973, 975, 980, 1041, 1043; 8 RT 2154, 2193–2194.)

C. Mikayla sues Gunner, his brother, and his parents. Gunner's father, Donald Young, prevails at trial on his recreational use immunity defense.

Mikayla sued Gunner, his parents, and his brother Dillon, alleging negligent design of the motocross track and negligent provision of medical care. (See *Hoffmann*, *supra*, 56 Cal.App.5th at p. 1024; Appellant's Request to Augment Record on Appeal, exh. A, pp. 2–12.) Donald asserted a recreational use immunity defense to the negligent track-design claim. (2 CT 303–315; 3 CT 604; 10 RT 2720; see 1 RT 88; 3 RT 616–625; 6 RT 1535–1537.)<sup>2</sup>

Mikayla invoked the express invitation exception to recreational use immunity, citing *Calhoon v. Lewis* (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 108 (*Calhoon*). (10 RT 2721.) The trial court, however, suggested that the exception did not apply because there was "no evidence that there was an express[] invitation by either Christina Young or Donald Young to have Mikayla come to the property. . . . Mikayla did not know either Donald Young or

13

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although Mikayla also asserted a track-design claim against Christina, the trial court directed a verdict in Christina's favor on that claim because no evidence showed that Christina had any role in designing or maintaining the track. (11 RT 3008.) Mikayla did not challenge that ruling on appeal.

Christina Young before this accident, so they couldn't have been the people that had invited her." (10 RT 2720.) The trial court noted that the invitation came from Gunner, who was not the landowner. (10 RT 2719–2720.)

The jury returned a defense verdict on all claims. (3 CT 704–713.) On the negligent track-design claim, the jury found that Donald is entitled to recreational use immunity. (See 3 CT 705.) Having concluded that Donald and Christina did not invite Mikayla to the property (10 RT 2720), the trial court did not ask the jury to make any findings in the verdict form on the express invitation exception, effectively resolving that issue in Donald's favor (see 3 CT 705; *Hoffmann*, *supra*, 56 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1027–1028).

# D. In a divided opinion, the Court of Appeal holds that Gunner's invitation to Mikayla abrogated Donald's immunity.

A divided panel of the Court of Appeal reversed and remanded for a new trial on the negligent track-design claim.<sup>3</sup> The majority acknowledged it was undisputed that Gunner—not his parents—invited Mikayla onto the property. (*Hoffmann*, supra, 56 Cal.App.5th at p. 1027.) But the majority held that "Gunner's express invitation of [Mikayla] stripped his parents of the immunity that would otherwise have been provided to them by section 846." (*Id.* at p. 1024.) The majority reasoned, based on

The Court of Appeal affirmed the defense judgment on the claim for negligent provision of medical care. (*Hoffmann*, *supra*, 56 Cal.App.5th at p. 1029.) That claim is not at issue here.

"a modicum of common sense," that Gunner's parents had "impliedly permit[ted] him to invite friends to the property" by allowing Gunner to live with them. (*Id.* at p. 1026.) In the majority's view, this implied permission meant that Gunner was acting as his parents' agent when he invited Mikayla to the property, so his "invitation is deemed to have been expressly extended by his parents, the landowner[s]." (*Ibid.*) The majority found "persuasive" the Court of Appeal's decision in *Calhoon*, *supra*, 81 Cal.App.4th 108, which treated an invitation by the landowners' son as an invitation by the landowners. (*Hoffmann*, at p. 1025; see *id.* at p. 1029.)

The majority then restated its holding in broader terms "as a guidepost for the trial courts and the bar." (*Hoffmann*, *supra*, 56 Cal.App.5th at p. 1028.) "Where the landowner and the landowner's child are living together on the landowner's property with the landowner's consent, the child's express invitation of a person to come onto the property operates as an express invitation by the landowner within the meaning of section 846, subdivision (d)(3), unless the landowner has prohibited the child from extending the invitation." (*Ibid.*; see *id.* at p. 1026.)

Justice Perren dissented. He concluded that the "clear and specific" language of section 846's express invitation exception instructs that "only the landowner may issue the invitation unless the landowner expressly authorizes an agent to do so." (*Hoffmann*, *supra*, 56 Cal.App.5th at p. 1030 (dis. opn. of Perren, J.).) He cited a line of authority reiterating that the exception

requires a direct, personal invitation by the landowner. (Id. at pp. 1031–1032.)

Justice Perren lamented the majority's decision to create a new presumption that an invitation extended by a landowner's child is deemed an express invitation by the landowner.

(Hoffmann, supra, 56 Cal.App.5th at pp. 1030–1031 (dis. opn. of Perren, J.).) In his view, the majority had improperly "rewritten the unambiguous language in the statute," judicially amending it to encompass "'persons who are expressly [or by implication] invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner.'" (Id. at p. 1031, quoting § 846, subd. (d)(3).)

After the Court of Appeal summarily denied defendants' petition for rehearing, defendants petitioned for review. This Court granted review.

#### LEGAL ARGUMENT

- I. Civil Code section 846 is unambiguous: an invitation by a non-landowner without the landowner's knowledge or express approval does not strip the landowner of immunity.
  - A. Courts have consistently interpreted section 846 according to its plain language.

When interpreting the text of a statute, this Court "'first examine[s] the statutory language, giving it a plain and commonsense meaning."'" (City of San Jose v. Superior Court (2017) 2 Cal.5th 608, 616 (City of San Jose).) "'"If the language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning unless a literal interpretation would result in absurd consequences the Legislature did not intend."'" (Ibid.) Courts follow the plain

meaning of the statutory text because "the language of the statute itself is the most reliable guide to legislative intent." (*Klein v. United States* (2010) 50 Cal.4th 68, 83 (*Klein*).) This Court "construe[s] the words of a statute in context, and harmonize[s] the various parts of an enactment by considering the provision at issue in the context of the statutory framework as a whole." (*Cummins, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 478, 487.)

Section 846 establishes an "extremely broad" rule of immunity. (Ornelas v. Randolph (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1095, 1105 (Ornelas).) Though often called an immunity statute, "[s]ection 846 does not merely eliminate a damage remedy for certain types of negligent conduct by a landowner." (Klein, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 78.) Rather, it eliminates the property owner's duty of care in the first instance. (Ibid.) And it "absolves California landowners of two separate and distinct duties: the duty to 'keep the premises safe' for recreational users, and the duty to warn such users of 'hazardous conditions, uses of, structures, or activities' on the premises." (Ibid., quoting § 846, subd. (a).) The statute protects not only fee simple owners, but the "owner of any estate or any other interest in real property, whether possessory or nonpossessory." (§ 846, subd. (a).) And it encompasses a broad range of recreational activities that can occur on nearly any kind

of private or federal land. (*Id.*, subd. (b); *Klein*, at p. 85; *Ornelas*, at pp. 1105, 1100–1102.)<sup>4</sup>

This general rule of immunity is subject to three narrowly defined exceptions: willful or malicious conduct, entry for consideration, and express invitations. (§ 846, subd. (d).) "Under the maxim of statutory construction, expressio unius est exclusio alterius, if exemptions are specified in a statute, [courts] may not imply additional exemptions unless there is a clear legislative intent to the contrary." (Sierra Club v. State Bd. of Forestry (1994) 7 Cal.4th 1215, 1230; see Lopez v. Sony Electronics, Inc. (2018) 5 Cal.5th 627, 636 ["We will not create an exception the Legislature did not enact"].) Thus, in keeping with section 846's broad purpose of encouraging landowners to permit recreational use of their property without fear of reprisal, courts "construe the exceptions for consideration and express invitees narrowly." (Johnson v. Unocal Corp. (1993) 21 Cal.App.4th 310, 315 (Johnson).)

Courts have consistently applied section 846 according to its plain language. In *Ornelas*, this Court held that "assuming, as we must, that the Legislature chose its words carefully," there

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Under the Federal Tort Claims Act, the federal government can be held liable for premises liability claims to the extent "a private person would be liable in the same circumstances under state law." (*Klein, supra*, 50 Cal.4th at p. 74.) As a result, federal courts often apply Civil Code section 846 in cases arising from injuries sustained on federal land. A different statute governs recreational use immunity for property owned by state and local public entities. (See *Avila v. Citrus Community College Dist.* (2006) 38 Cal.4th 148, 157 [discussing Government Code section 831.7].)

is no statutory basis to require that property must be "'suitable'" for recreation to come within the scope of section 846. (Ornelas, supra, 4 Cal.4th at p. 1108.) More recently, in Klein, this Court held that section 846 does not confer immunity for vehicular negligence by the landowner's employee because the "plain language" of the statute shows immunity is limited to "propertybased duties underlying premises liability, a liability category that does not include vehicular negligence." (Klein, supra, 50 Cal.4th at p. 72.) As this Court explained, "it would have been a simple matter" for the Legislature to draft different language, but it chose not to. (Id. at pp. 79–80; see Wang v. Nibbelink (2016) 4 Cal.App.5th 1, 17–18 (Wang) [plain language shows that immunity "applies to off-premises injury to persons not participating in recreational use of the land," and an alternative "construction would have us add language not placed there by the Legislature"].)

# B. Recreational use immunity is abrogated only when the plaintiff is "expressly invited" to the property "by the landowner."

The plain language of section 846, subdivision (d)(3) resolves the issue presented here. To overcome recreational use immunity under the express invitation exception, a plaintiff must prove he or she was "expressly invited . . . to come upon the premises by the landowner." (§ 846, subd. (d)(3), emphasis added.) On its face, the express invitation exception applies only to invitations by landowners. And that is not all. The statute also provides that the exception is *not* triggered if the plaintiff

was "merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner." (*Ibid.*, emphasis added.) The statute thus draws a line between those guests the landowner singles out for an express invitation and those guests the landowner passively permits onto the property.

Courts have long interpreted this language to mean that the "'express invitation' exception requires a direct, personal request from the landowner to the invitee to enter the property." (Jackson v. Pacific Gas & Elec. Co. (2001) 94 Cal.App.4th 1110, 1116 (Jackson); see Wang, supra, 4 Cal.App.5th at p. 32; Calhoon, supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at p. 113; Johnson, supra, 21 Cal.App.4th at p. 317; Ravell v. U.S. (9th Cir. 1994) 22 F.3d 960, 963 (Ravell).) Put another away, the exception applies only "to persons whom the landowner personally selects to come onto the property." (Wang, at p. 32, emphasis added; see Calhoon, at p. 113; Phillips v. United States (9th Cir. 1979) 590 F.2d 297, 299 (Phillips).) Because the exception is triggered only by an invitation to a guest the landowner personally selects, an invitation issued by a nonlandowner without the landowner's knowledge or express approval cannot abrogate the landowner's immunity.

Johnson illustrates this straightforward reading of the statute. There, the defendant, Unocal, owned picnic grounds, which it made available for recreational use. (Johnson, supra, 21 Cal.App.4th at p. 312.) Plaintiff's employer, Abex, reserved the property for its annual company picnic. (Ibid.) There was no evidence that Unocal barred Abex from inviting its employees to the picnic; if anything, Unocal knew (or should have known) that

Abex would do so. (See *id*. at pp. 312, 324 [Unocal approved "a specific date for the picnic," and Unocal had a special consent form for group reservations like this one].) Abex employees "knew they could attend [the picnic] simply by purchasing a ticket" from Abex. (*Id*. at p. 313.) Plaintiff bought a ticket and attended the picnic, where he injured himself. (*Ibid*.) He then sued Unocal, asserting that the express invitation exception abrogated Unocal's recreational use immunity. (*Id*. at pp. 313, 317.) The Court of Appeal rejected plaintiff's contention because there was no evidence of "a direct, personal request *from Unocal to* [*plaintiff*] to attend this picnic." (*Id*. at p. 317, emphasis added.) This meant plaintiff was "not an express invitee of Unocal," and therefore he did "not fall within the exception to immunity established by section 846 for express invitees." (*Ibid*.)

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