2d. Civ. No. B292539 San Luis Obispo No. 16CVP0060

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

MIKAYLA HOFFMANN, by and through)	No. <b>S266003</b>
her Guardian ad Litem AMY	
JABCOBSEN, )	
)	
Plaintiff and Appellant, )	
)	
vs.	
)	
CHRISTINA M. YOUNG, et al.,	
)	
Defendants and Respondents.)	

### APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION SIX, REPORTED AT 56 Cal.App.5th  $1021\,$ 

ANDRADE LAW OFFICES, APC Steven R. Andrade – SBN 079718 211 Equestrian Avenue Santa Barbara, CA 93101 Tel. (805) 962-4944 steve@andrade4law.com

Counsel for Plaintiff and Appellant

##

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

## Legal Argument

I.

"SOCIAL GUESTS" ARE NOT RECREATIONAL USERS UNDER CIVIL CODE SECTION 846, SO LANDOWNER IMMUNITY FROM SUIT DOES NOT APPLY; THE STATUTE PROSCRIBES NEITHER EXPRESS, NOR IMPLIED DELEGATION OF A LANDOWNER'S AUTHORITY TO INVITE SOCIAL GUESTS ONTO HIS/HER/THEIR/ITS PROPERTY, NOR DOES IT DEROGATE THE LAW OF AGENCY.

A. Social Guest exception.

Civil Code section 846, by its own terms, does

<u>c id=2262553&doc no=B292539&request token=NiIwLSEmTkw5WzBRSCFNUExIMEg6USxTKiI%2BUzlRICAgCg%3D%3D</u>

- "...not limit the liability which otherwise exists for any of the following:
- (1) Willful or malicious failure to guard or warn against a dangerous condition, use, structure or activity.
- (2) Injury suffered in any case where permission to enter for the above purpose was granted for a consideration other than the consideration, if any, paid to said landowner by the state, or where consideration has been received from others for the same purpose.
- (3) Any persons who are expressly invited rather than merely permitted to come upon the premises by the landowner.

(Id; underlining added.)

Fairly recently, the First District, Division Two, examined the history of Section 846, and the similarity of purpose between it and the recreational use immunity statutes of sister-states whose legislation tracked the model act developed by the Council of State Governments in 1965. The court noted that all such statutes were a compact between private property owners and the state, whereby there was a "quid pro quo," or "trade-off," in that the landowner received immunity from lawsuits due to his negligence in return for opening his land to the public.

(Pac. Gas & Elec. Co. v. Superior Ct., supra, 10 Cal. App. 5th 563, 573–574.)<sup>11</sup>

The court reasoned, therefore, that the statutory exceptions to the immunity under Section 846 had to be understood in that context; that the exceptions reflect situations in which the Legislature did not think "governmental encouragement" in the form of immunity was necessary to achieve that purpose. Significantly, the court cited and quoted *Calhoon v. Lewis*, supra, 81 Cal.App.4th at p. 114, for the proposition that, "...exception for those who are personally invited reflects Legislature's understanding that '[p]roperty owners do not need governmental encouragement to permit personal guests to come onto their land." (*Pac. Gas & Elec. Co.*, supra, at p. 574.) (Emphasis added.)

As the authors of the treatise comparing state recreational use statutes succinctly expressed it:

Finally, persons deemed to be social guests may not also be classified as recreational users, triggering the immunity offered by a statute. Hawaii and Wisconsin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The court did not mention the anomaly created by the wording, and interpretation, of Section 846 that this Court had earlier acknowledged: "Other states have relied on express statutory language, derived from the model act, limiting the reach of the statutory immunity to 'land ... available to the public for recreational purposes.' (citations omitted) As noted earlier, although one purpose of section 846 is to encourage access to recreational lands, *it is not expressly or necessarily limited to such property*." (*Ornelas v. Randolph*, supra, 4 Cal. 4th 1095, 1108, fn. 9; italics added.)

hold exclusions for persons designated as a house or social guest (Hawaii Rev. Stat. § 520-2,; Wis. Stat. Ann. § 895.52,). In a Texas case, a woman was injured when she fell out of a tree after entering the defendant's property to view wild boars. The defendant argued that the plaintiff had been engaged in a recreational activity and that as a landowner he was therefore entitled to immunity under Texas' recreational user statute. The court disagreed, finding the recreational user statute to be inapplicable because the woman was deemed a social guest (McMillan v. Parker, 1995). Even though Texas statute, Tex. Civ. Prac. & Rem. Code Ann. § 75.001, does not specifically exclude social guests, the court reasoned that social guests were not the intended recipients of the statute and that application of the statute to \*178 them would unfairly lower the standard of care owed to them (McMillan v. Parker, 1995).

(Carroll, et al., <u>Recreational User Statutes and Landowner Immunity: A Comparison Study of State Legislation</u>, supra, 17 J. Legal Aspects Sport 163, 177–78; emphasis added.)

Thus, whether it is asserted that recreational use immunity statutes do not apply in cases where the injured party is the landowners' "social guest," or instead stated that "social guests" are excepted from the landowners' invocation of statutory immunity, the effect is the same, and here, in the trial court, Respondents had represented that, "The fact of the matter is, it's an assumption of risk case. Track design. That's it. ¶

<u>I'm not arguing status of the Plaintiff as a trespasser</u>. That's not an issue in the case." (1 Tr. 77; AOB, 24.)

Even now, as part of a factual recital that violates Rule 8.500 (c)(2), Respondents concede that "The day after Gunner visited Mikayla at her

mother's house, Gunner picked up Mikayla, loaded her motorcycle onto his pickup truck, and drove to his parents' house. (4 RT 952, 954; 8 RT 2180.) Once there, Gunner unloaded Mikayla's motorcycle and outfitted Mikayla with protective gear. (See 7 RT 1882-1883; 8 RT 2182.)." (RMB, p. 12.) [NB. Respondents omit the indisputable fact, provided by Gunner himself, that the "protective gear" belonged to Gunner's mother, as did the boots with which he outfitted Appellant. (8 Tr. 2181; AOB 30.),].

Appellant was certainly a "social guest," but because there was no evidence (the trial court did not allow any)<sup>12</sup> that Gunner's parents, the titled property owners, had given him authority to invite guests onto the property, Respondents argue that Appellant does not qualify for the exception under Section 846 (d)(3).

## B. Implied and Express Delegation of Authority to Invite.

Appellant and Respondents both have cited and discussed the cases involving corporations (Pacific Gas & Electric, Unocal, etc.) and governmental agencies, e.g., agencies of the U.S. government, including the military, who are the titled landowners of property on which some hapless person was injured and sued under some theory of negligence.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  Appellant's assignment of error concerning the trial court's ruling denying a new trial because that court excluded evidence that Gunner <u>did</u> have authority to invite specific people onto the Young property is at AOB, pp. 14, 40-42,

Curiously, only a few of those cases involved claims by the nominal defendants that the person extending the invitation was not authorized to do so, but without explaining just who was, and how that authorization devolved.

As Appellant set forth in her Answer to the Petition for Review, it would be remarkably obtuse for Respondents to so promiscuously cite ("passim") Ravell v. U.S. (9th Cir. 1994) 22 F.3d 960, and then deny that the Ninth Circuit's decision turned on whether Ms. Ravell had been "expressly invited" to attend an air show at a U.S. military installation open to the general public, rather than on whether someone other than the Commander-in-Chief, the Secretary of Defense, the Secretary of the Air Force, etc., personally was authorized to issue that invitation. The presumption that such delegation of authority existed, and was cognizable under Civil Code section 846, is clear:

Ravell's son's request that she come to the show does not advance her cause. She presented no facts to indicate that he was, in any sense, authorized to make express invitations on behalf of the United States which went beyond the advertised invitation to the general public. Liability cannot turn on such ephemera as a son's asking his mother to come to a public event.

(Ravell v. United States, 22 F.3d 960, 963, n. 3; emphasis added.)

Similarly unavailing was Respondents' attempt (at Pet., p. 15, *et seq*) to not only distance themselves from *Ravell's* footnote 3, but

to also <u>create a conflict</u> between that decision and a United States District Court's ruling that a subordinate officer *apparently* had authority to issue such an "express invitation" within the meaning of Civil Code section 846.

In their Merits Brief, however, Respondents avoid the conundrum by simply declining to even mention that case and the problem it presents for them.

As Appellant noted in her Reply Brief below, following the filing of the AOB, but prior to the filing of the RB, Honorable Barry Teb Moskowitz, United States District Judge, Southern District of California, had occasion to consider the *Ravell* decision in a context analogous to that presented here. (*H.S. by & through Parde v. United States*, No. 317-CV-02418-BTM (KSC), 2019 WL 3803804, (S.D. Cal. Aug. 13, 2019).)<sup>13</sup>

An extended recitation of the pertinent passages of the district court's ruling is appropriate, but apparently misunderstood by Respondents, who cited it at Pet., pp. 18-23, but omit if from their RMB:

...as to the "express invitation" exception (*i.e.*, § 846(d) (3)), Plaintiff argues that H.S. was expressly invited to the Armory by way of Captain Rankin's statements in the Newsletters and/or by SSG Shears via the authority

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> It does not appear that more recent authority has disturbed this Court's sense that unpublished federal cases may be cited in California courts without offending our rules. (*Farm Raised Salmon Cases* (2008) 42 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 1077, 1096, fn. 18.) (<u>See</u>, also, *People v. Cage* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 965, 989, fn. 20 citing *Miller v. Fleming* (W.D.Wash. 2006) 2006 WL 435466.)

delegated to him by Captain Rankin via his statements in the Newsletters. In response, the United States argues that, because the Newsletters "did not specifically address particular family members by name, type of family member, or otherwise", it was not a direct and personal invitation and therefore insufficient to constitute an express invitation. (ECF No. 50, at 23-25.) It further argues that SSG Shears had "no authority to personally invite family members on behalf of the United States." (ECF No. 52, at 8 n.4.) Yet there is no support in the case law for the purported requirement that H.S. be personally-named in the Newsletters to constitute a "direct and personal" invitation. Rather, all that is required is that the invitation be direct, personal, and to a person personally selected by the landowner. See Wang v. Nibbelink, 4 Cal. App. 5th 1, 32 (2016) (" 'Express invitation' in section 846 refers to a direct. personal request by the landowner to persons whom the landowner personally selects to come onto the property") (citations omitted). Further, the parties do not cite, and the Court is unable to locate, prior decisions that directly define what constitutes a "direct, personal" request or what it means for a landowner to "personally select" a person to invite. Rather, these concepts have generally been defined by exclusion. See Phillips v. United States, 590 F.2d 297, 299 (9th Cir. 1979) ("[I]t seems evident to us that the Legislature did not intend to include within the concept of express invitation, used in section 846, any invitation to the general public."); Calhoon v. Lewis, 81 Cal. App. 4th 108, 115, 96 Cal. Rptr. 2d 394, 398 (2000) ("[P]ersons responding to advertisements, brochures, promotional materials, and other public offers are not express invitees under the [Recreational Use] statute."); Johnson, 21 Cal. App. 4th at 317 (employer's execution of a rental agreement with landowner in connection with use of premises for employer's company picnic did not constitute an express invitation from landowner to employer's employees).

... Moreover, the United States' reliance on a footnote in *Ravell* for the proposition that an invitation from a

service member to his family members cannot constitute an express invitation from the United States overstates the holding in Ravell. Ravell, 22 F.3d at 961, 963 n.3 (invitation by service member to his mother to attend "widely-attended" airshow advertised to the general public attended by over 300,000 people was insufficient to constitute express invitation where the mother "presented no facts to indicate that [service meRMBer] was, in any sense, authorized to make express invitations on behalf of the United States which went beyond the advertised invitation to the general public"). Unlike in Ravell, Plaintiff has presented facts indicating that SSG Shears was authorized to extend an invitation on behalf of the United States by Captain Rankin exhortations in the Newsletters

Nevertheless, because genuine disputes of material fact exist as to whether Captain Rankin and/or SSG Shears had sufficient authority, whether through delegation or otherwise, to invite H.S. onto the Armory on behalf of the United States, and therefore whether the "express invitation" exception to the Recreational Use statute is triggered, summary judgment in favor of either party is inappropriate.

(H.S. by & through Parde v. United States, 2019 WL 3803804, at \*5 - 6.) (Underlining added.)

The very pregnant question, of course, is by what authority, express or implied, was the aforesaid Captain Rankin himself delegated the authorization to expressly invite persons onto that military installation; why was it only the authority of Staff Sergeant Shears that was challenged? In any event, though, Judge Teb said it was an open question as to whether Captain Rankin had authority and, by and through him, if SSG Shears did.

Similarly, in *Johnson v. Unocal Corp.* (1993) 21 Cal.App.4th 310, the corporate defendant had granted plaintiff's employer access to the corporate property to hold the employer's company picnic. The employer's employee, who was injured, sued the corporation, but without saying who in the corporation was authorized, or delegated the authority to issue, the express invitation, the Court of Appeal held that because the invitation to the picnic came from the employer to the employee, and not directly from the corporation to the employee, the exception under Section 846(d)(3) was inapplicable because defendant did not extend a "direct, personal request" for plaintiff to attend picnic on the defendant's land.

In sum, there is nothing in Section 846 that precludes a landowner from delegating his/her/their/its authority to invite a social guest onto the landowner's property; <u>subdivision (d)(3) does not say</u> the invitation must be made "directly," or "personally" by the landowner to the social guest.

Here, the consistent, persistent argument of Respondents, <u>prior to</u> the decision by the court below, has been that Gunner did not have authority to invite Appellant to ride on the Young's dirt-bike track, NOT that he lacked authority to invite her onto the property for any purpose. Did the fact that Gunner lived in the house, on the property, with his parents imply that he had authority to summon emergency responders in the event of fire? Or that he had authority to summon a plumber if a pipe

burst? Or that if the police came knocking, he had authority to invite them in to search the common areas of the house?<sup>14</sup>

There is simply nothing in Section 846 that prohibits, or mitigates the effect of, the implied, or express delegation of authority by the landowner to a member of his/her/their/its household to issue an express invitation to a particular person, or anyone, to come onto the property for any purpose. (See, e.g., People v. Jacobs (1987) 43 Cal. 3d 472, 483 ["As a child advances in age she acquires greater discretion to admit visitors on her own authority."].)

### C. The Law of Agency.

Although the *Calhoon* court did not say on what basis Wade Lewis had authority to invite his friend, Mr. Calhoon, onto the property owned by Wade's parents, the Court of Appeal in *Hoffmann* was direct and clear as to why Gunner's express invitation to Appellant was "tantamount to an express invitation by landowner..." Gunner lived on the property, with his parents, the landowners, a circumstance that commonsense dictates implies authority to invite guests onto the property. The Court also said

S.Ct. 988." (People v. Jacobs (1987) 43 Cal. 3d 472, 481.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> It would appear that this Court would answer the last query in the affirmative: "The mutual use of the property must be such 'that it is reasonable to recognize that any of the co-inhabitants has the right to permit the inspection in his own right and that the others have assumed the risk that one of their number might permit the common area to be searched.' (*United States v. Matlock* (1974) 415 U.S. 164, 171, fn. 7, 94

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